

King Saud University

Saudi Dental Journal





REVIEW ARTICLE

Wnt pathway in oral cancer: A review update



Nyi Mas Siti Purwaningsih^a, Goot Heah Khor^{a,b,c,*}, Nik Mohd Mazuan Nik Mohd Rosdy^d, Effat Omar Abdul Rahman^e

Received 25 September 2020; revised 5 July 2021; accepted 1 August 2021 Available online 5 August 2021

KEYWORD

Oral cancer; Wnt pathway; Squamous cell carcinoma; Cancer therapeutic; Signaling Abstract The Wnt signalling pathway involves in the pathogenesis of human diseases and one of the pathways that contribute to embryogenic development. Studies about the Wnt pathway have unfolded its regulation in many cancer cell mechanisms such as cell survival, migration, polarity, and cell multiplication. Moreover, the Wnt pathway has a significant role in cell fate determination and self-renewal in stem cells. Oral cancer shares significant concern among clinicians and researchers. However, there are only a few studies done on oral cancer and its correlation with the Wnt pathway. The expression of Wnt gene members in many malignancy diseases which included oral cancer has proven a high inverse correlation with malignancy diseases and malignancy progression. Metastasis which predominantly occurred through the lymphatic system has been the principal cause of mortality in oral cancer and affected to cancer stage, main tumour site, cancer cell differentiation and cancer cell adhesion potency. With intention of contributing to oral pathology and oral medicine research and knowledge advancement, particularly in the oral cancer area, this article presents current findings regarding the Wnt pathway and its multiple mechanisms associated with the treatment of oral carcinogenesis through Wnt pathway signalling.

© 2021 The Authors. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

E-mail address: gootheah@uitm.edu.my (G.H. Khor). Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



Production and hosting by Elsevier

^a Centre for Preclinical Science Studies, Faculty of Dentistry, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Sungai Buloh Campus, Jalan Hospital, 47000, Sungai Buloh, Selangor, Malaysia

^b Oral Cancer and Maxillofacial Research Group, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Shah Alam, Selangor, Malaysia

^c Cancer Signaling Research Laboratory, Department of Surgery (RMH), The University of Melbourne, Parkville 3050, Victoria, Australia

^d Centre for Oral and Maxillofacial Diagnostic and Medicine, Faculty of Dentistry, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Sungai Buloh Campus, Jalan Hospital, 47000, Sungai Buloh, Selangor, Malaysia

^e Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Sungai Buloh Campus, Jalan Hospital, 47000, Sungai Buloh, Selangor, Malaysia

^{*} Corresponding author.

Contents

	Introduction	
2.	Literature review	814
	2.1. Wnt pathway and its genes	814
	2.2. Wnt pathway in oral cancer	815
	2.3. Current treatment in oral cancer targeting Wnt pathway	816
	2.3.1. Medical treatment in oral cancer targeting Wnt pathway	816
	2.3.2. Herbal treatment in oral cancer targeting Wnt pathway	816
3.	Conclusion	816
	Ethical statement	816
	Declaration of Competing Interest.	816
	Acknowledgements	
	References.	816

1. Introduction

The name of Wnt or Wingless integrated/ NT came from a combination between the name of the Drosophila segment polarity gene wingless together with the vertebrate homolog name, integrated or int-1 which encodes a group of 19 secreted cysteine-rich glycoproteins as seen in Table 1 (Wiese et al., 2018). In mammary carcinogenesis, Wnt1 is initiated by proviral insertions and had been known in its potential role in many cancers such as breast cancer, colorectal cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, lung adenocarcinoma, gastric cancer, as well as oral cancer (Kerdidani et al., 2019; Mao et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2012).

2. Literature review

2.1. Wnt pathway and its genes

There are two major types of Wnt pathway which are canonical (β -catenin dependent) and non-canonical type (β -catenin

independent) signalling (Zhan et al., 2017). The crucial step in Wnt signalling is secreting cells produced by Wnt ligands (Buechling et al., 2011). The Wnt relocation from the endoplasmic reticulum towards the Golgi apparatus is induced by p24 protein and then binds tightly with afamin to prevent aggregation (Mihara et al., 2016; Port et al., 2011). Wnt proteins may release towards the plasma membrane and secrete from the cell through several paths such as immediate release from the plasma membrane by solubilisation, exosomes growth and through lipid-protein particles (Gross et al., 2012; Mulligan et al., 2011).

Aberrant regulation of the Wnt pathway has been associated with various types of cancers (Duchartre et al., 2016). Wnt pathway mechanisms interrupt the growth and/or invasion of cancer through loss of heterozygosity, polymorphisms or genetic alteration, cellular senescence, chromosome segregation, and over or low expression of Wnt protein (Ali et al., 2017). For instance, the high prevalence of Wnt1 is correlated with late-stage carcinoma of lung patients and contributes to colorectal cancer cell migration and invasion (Stanczak et al., 2011).

Wnt ligands	Receptors/Co- receptors	Transcription factors	Wnt inhibitors	Transcriptional co-activators	Transcriptional co- repressors	Transducer
β-catenin-dependent pathway activators (Wnt1- 16 except Wnt4-5a and Wnt11)	Frizzled 1–10 (Fzd1-10)	T-cell factors 1,3,4 (Tcf1,3,4)	Dickkopf 1–4 (DKK1-4)	β-catenin	Transducin-like enhancer of split (TLE)/ Groucho 1–4	Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC1/2)
β-catenin-independent pathways activators (Wnt4, Wnt5a, Wnt11)	LDL receptor related protein 5/6 (LPRP5/6) co-receptor	Lymphoid enhancer factor 1 (Lef1)	Secreted frizzled-related proteins 1–5 (SFRP1-5)			AXIN 1/2
,	Receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 2 (ROR2)	` '	Soggy			Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK3β)
	Dishevelled 1–3 (Dvl1-3) YAP		Wnt inhibiting factor 1 (WIF1) Wise (Sostdc1) Gpr177			Casein kinase (CKN1)

2.2. Wnt pathway in oral cancer

Oral cancer has become a major concern in Southeast Asia predominantly because of the high incidence of social or personal habits such as betel quid chewing, tobacco and alcohol consumption (Karaca and Ozturk, 2019). More than 90% of oral cancers in oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC), and the prognosis upon diagnosis for OSCC patients remains unsatisfactory (Bagan et al., 2010; Khor et al., 2013). Therefore, the identification of novel therapeutic targets and prognostic markers for oral cancer is crucial. Several studies highlight the contribution of Wnt signalling pathway activation in oral neoplastic transformation and epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) toward oral cancer progression. Oral cancer expresses some of the Wnt genes and activates the signalling pathway. A set of Wnt genes were expressed in oral cancer cells meaning that several of Wnt genes affected the structural form of cancer cells (Castilho and Gutkind, 2014; Shiah et al., 2016).

In oral cancer, several Wnt and Frizzled genes are expressed, mostly Wnt5a and Fzd5 but the role of Wnt5a

has not yet been thoroughly revealed. Furthermore, not only Wnt5a stimulates the non-canonical Wnt/Ca (2⁺)/PKC pathway, but it also contributes to oral cancer cell migration and invasion. This evidence may suggest how the increase of the Wnt5a gene in the tumour tissue induces oral carcinogenesis (Prgomet et al., 2015). In addition, Prgomet et al. detected higher expression of Wnt5a compared to oral dysplasia and normal oral mucosa (Prgomet et al., 2017). Wnt5a expression increased following the grade of dysplasia and the highest was expressed in oral cancer. These outcomes offer an opportunity for Wnt5a which could be used as a potential biological marker for oral carcinogenesis.

Some of the evidence suggests that many regulatory genes of the Wnt signalling pathway are dysregulated in the head and neck APC gene, Wnt antagonists the secreted Frizzled-related proteins (SFRPs) gene, Wnt inhibition signalling can contribute to increase growth, metastatic and resistance to chemotherapy in cancer treatment (Castilho and Gutkind, 2014; Li et al., 2016; Pannone et al., 2010). A study was done by L. Li et al. (2016) found that Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway may play important roles in cisplatin resistance in

No	Gene	Function	Role	Author, year
1	Wnt1	Ligand	Wnt1 used as combination target therapy in OSCC treatment	Ma et al., 2017
2	Wnt2	Ligand	Wnt2 activation increase invasiveness of HNSCC (upregulation role)	Le et al., 2019
3	Wnt3a	Ligand	Wnt3a may be an indicator of poor prognosis in OSCC	Marimuthu et al., 2018
4	Wnt7a	Ligand	Wnt7b as a therapeutic target in oral cancer	Shiah et al., 2016
			Wnt7a has an upregulation role in HNSCC	Le et al., 2019
5	Wnt16	Ligand	Upregulation role in HNSCC	Le et al., 2019
6	Fzd7	Receptor	Fzd7 as a therapeutic target in OSCC cisplatin resistance treatment	Liu et al., 2019
7	AXIN1	Transducer	Upregulation role	Andrade Filho et al., 2011
8	AXIN2	Transducer	AXIN2 was expressed low in HNSCC but associated with advanced clinical stage	Le et al., 2019
9	APC	Transducer	APC as a tumour suppressor gene	Alamoud and Kukuruzinska, 2018
10	β-catenin	Transcription factor	Targeted therapy	Kartha et al., 2018
11	LEF-1	Transcription factor	LEF1 as a transcription factor	Sogutlu et al., 2018
12	TCF4	Transcription factor	Transcription factor in OSCC	Lee et al., 2014
13	DKK1	Inhibitor	Increasing migration and invasion of OSCC cells	Ogoshi et al., 2011
14	DKK2	Inhibitor	Target therapy for OSCC	Souza and Saranath, 2015
15	DKK3	Inhibitor	Play role in cellular proliferation, invasion, migration, and tumour cell survival of OSCC	Katase et al., 2020
16	SFRP1	Inhibitor	SFRP1 showed a significantly upregulated expression in low-grade OSCC and survived patients	Marimuthu et al., 2018
17	SFRP2	Inhibitor	SFRP2 showed a significantly upregulated expression in low-grade OSCC and survived patients	Marimuthu et al., 2018
18	SFRP4	Inhibitor	SFRP4 showed higher expression in a male patient with OSCC compared to female	Marimuthu et al., 2018
19	SFRP5	Inhibitor	SFRP5 showed a significantly upregulated expression in low-grade OSCC and survived patients	Marimuthu et al., 2018
20	WIF1	Inhibitor	Catenin delocalization in oral cancer	Pannone et al., 2010
21	Wnt5a	Ligand	Increasing migration and invasion of OSCC cells	Prgomet et al., 2017
22	Wnt11	Ligand	Downregulation role as a tumour suppressor gene during OSCC development	Andrade Filho et al., 2011

oral cancer treatment (Li et al., 2016). Moreover, for APC, its activity as a tumour suppressor gene appears muted on a relatively frequent basis in oral cancer (Pérez-Sayáns et al., 2012). Some regulations of Wnt genes in oral cancer mentioned above are described in Table 2.

2.3. Current treatment in oral cancer targeting Wnt pathway

2.3.1. Medical treatment in oral cancer targeting Wnt pathway Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) cell line (SNU 1076) therapy approach by using anti-Wnt1 antibodies show decreasing mechanism in Wnt/Fzd dependent transcription factor LEF/TCF and reduced cyclin D1 and β-catenin proteins expression. Likewise, delaying Wnt1 signalling offers inhibition of proliferation and induce cell apoptosis. The study by Ma et al. (2017) found potential therapy through combination therapy of polyethene glycol-polyethyleneimine-chlorin e6 (PEG-PEI-Ce6) nanoparticles in Wnt1 siRNA production together with photodynamic therapy (PDT) in oral cancer therapy. They found that the therapy would inhibit the EMT activation that may lead to tumour relapse and development. In summary, Wnt1 siRNA combined with PEG-PEI-Ce6 nanoparticle facilitated PDT constrained cell growth and increased the apoptosis effect extraordinarily (Ma et al., 2017).

2.3.2. Herbal treatment in oral cancer targeting Wnt pathway

Adjacent to the medicinal treatment, many researchers uncovered many herbal substances that perform in eradicating oral cancer through Wnt pathway signalling (Javed et al., 2019). Aminuddin and Ng stated that curcumin has been investigated widely as natural inhibitors of the Wnt signalling pathway. Curcumin shows suppression of the Wnt canonical signalling by inhibiting β -catenin and blocking Wnt and TCF4 interaction, through a dose-dependent manner (Aminuddin and Ng, 2016). Moreover, not only that curcumin restrains the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway, but it also can suppress proliferation and induce apoptosis of cancer cells through the Wnt signalling pathway (Choi et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2013).

Despite curcumin, green tea also verified to be effective in inhibiting the Wnt pathway in some cancers such as lung cancer, invasive breast cancer, colon cancer, cervical cancer and gastric cancer (Chen et al., 2017; Hussain, and Ashafaq, 2018; Yang et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2017). Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) is one of the major bioactive elements in green tea that believed could suppress cell proliferation (Singh et al., 2011). Green tea as a treatment for oral cancer also has been studied by Irimie et al., in 2015 who found EGCG in green tea has shown evidence in activating the expression of Wnt11 and other genes that could inhibit CASP8, MYC, and TP53 in cell proliferation. This result suggests that green tea is highly potential as a therapeutic alternative mixture for OSCC patients, by initiating tumour cell death through autophagy and apoptosis (Irimie et al., 2015).

3. Conclusion

The Wnt pathway remains as a part of the fundamental factor as a well-maintained intracellular signalling pathway during embryonic development as well as performs crucial regulation in regeneration, differentiation and function of many cells and tissues involving oral tissues. The involvement of the Wnt

pathway in oral carcinogenesis occurs through cell proliferation upregulation; initiation of EMT activation, genetic mutation, epigenetic alteration, and local invasiveness activation mechanisms. The Wnt pathway also plays a role in oral cancer deregulation through cell proliferation inhibition and apoptosis induction. Furthermore, some Wnt genes which act as tumour suppressor genes could be used as potential biomarkers for early detection and therapeutically target agent for oral cancer treatment.

Ethical statement

This review article requires no human or animal in research.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to humbly appreciate the Ministry of Education, Malaysia for the Fundamental Research Grant Scheme (600-rmi/FRGS/3(25/2015) and Universiti Teknologi MARA for supporting the research. The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest of all authors involved in this research. The final consent of all authors was given and they had agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

References

- Alamoud, K.A., Kukuruzinska, M.A., 2018. Emerging insights into Wnt/β-catenin signaling in head and neck cancer. J. Dent. Res. 97 (6), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034518771923.
- Ali, J., Sabiha, B., Jan, H.U., Haider, S.A., Khan, A.A., Ali, S.S., 2017. Genetic etiology of oral cancer. Oral Oncol. 70, 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2017.05.004.
- Aminuddin, A., Ng, P.Y., 2016. Promising druggable target in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: Wnt signaling. Front. Pharmacol. 12, 244. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2016.00244.
- Andrade Filho, P.A., Letra, A., Cramer, A., Prasad, J.L., Garlet, G.P., Vieira, A.R., Ferris, R.L., Menezes, R., 2011. Insights from studies with oral cleft genes suggest associations between Wnt-pathway genes and risk of oral cancer. J. Dent. Res. 90 (6), 740–746. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034511401622.
- Bagan, J., Sarrion, G., Jimenez, Y., 2010. Oral cancer: clinical features.
 Oral Oncol. 46, 414–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2010.03.009.
- Buechling, T., Chaudhary, V., Spirohn, K., Weiss, M., Boutros, M., 2011. P24 proteins are required for secretion of Wnt ligands. EMBO Rep. 12 (12), 1265–1272. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2011.212.
- Castilho, R.M., Gutkind, J.S., 2014. The Wnt/β-catenin signaling circuitry in head and neck cancer. In: Burtness, B., Golemis, E.A. (Eds.), Molecular Determinants of Head and Neck Cancer. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 199–214. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8815-6_10.
- Chen, Y., Wang, X.Q., Zhang, Q., Zhu, J.Y., Li, Y., Xie, C.F., Li, X. T., Wu, J.S., Geng, S.S., Zhong, C.Y., Han, H.Y., 2017. (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate inhibits colorectal cancer stem cells by suppressing Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Nutrients 9, 572–583. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9060572.

- Choi, H.Y., Lim, J.E., Hong, J.H., 2010. Curcumin interrupts the interaction between the androgen receptor and Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 13 (4), 343–349. https://doi.org/10.1038/pcan.2010.26.
- Duchartre, Y., Kim, Y.M., Kahn, M., 2016. The Wnt signaling pathway in cancer. Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 99, 141–149. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.12.005.
- Gross, J.C., Chaudhary, V., Bartscherer, K., Boutros, M., 2012. Active Wnt proteins are secreted on exosomes. Nat. Cell Biol. 14 (10), 1036–1045. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2574.
- Hussain, S., Ashafaq, M., 2018. Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate (EGCG): mechanisms, perspectives and clinical applications in cervical cancer. J. Cancer Prev. Curr. Res. 9, 178–182 https://doi.org/10. 15406/jcpcr.2018.09.00345.
- Irimie, A.I., Braicu, C., Zanoaga, O., Pileczki, V., Gherman, C., Berindan-Neagoe, I., Campian, R.S., 2015. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate suppresses cell proliferation and promotes apoptosis and autophagy in oral cancer SSC-4 cells. Onco Targets Ther. 20, 461–470. https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S78358.
- Javed, Z., Farooq, H.M., Ullah, M., Iqbal, M.Z., Raza, Q., Sadia, H., Pezzani, R., Salehi, B., Sharifi-Rad, J., Cho, W.C., 2019. Wnt signaling: a potential therapeutic target in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Asian Pacific J. Cancer Prev. 20, 995–1003 https://doi.org/10.31557/APJCP.2019.20.4.995.
- Karaca, I.R., Ozturk, D.N., 2019. Oral cancer: etiology and risk factors. J. Cancer Res. Ther. 15, 739. https://doi.org/10.4103/jcrt. JCRT 375 17.
- Kartha, V.K., Alamoud, K.A., Sadykov, K., Nguyen, B.C., Laroche, F., Feng, H., Lee, J., Pai, S.I., Varelas, X., Egloff, A.M., Snyder-Cappione, J.E., Belkina, A.C., Bais, M.V., Monti, S., Kukuruzinska, M.A., 2018. Functional and genomic analyses reveal therapeutic potential of targeting β-catenin/CBP activity in head and neck cancer. Genome Med. 10, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-018-0569-7.
- Katase, N., Nagano, K., Fujita, S., 2020. DKK3 overexpression and function in head anck squamous cell carcinoma and other cancers. J. Oral Biosci. 62, 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.job.2020.01.008.
- Kerdidani, D., Chouvardas, P., Arjo, A.R., Giopanou, I., Ntaliarda, G., Guo, Y.A., Tsikitis, M., Kazamias, G., Potaris, K., Stathopoulos, G.T., Zakynthinos, S., Kalomenidis, I., Soumelis, V., Kollias, G., Tsoumakidou, M., 2019. Wnt1 silences chemokine genes in dendritic cells and induces adaptive immune resistance in lung adenocarcinoma. Nat. Commun. 10, 1405. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09370-z.
- Khor, G.H., Froemming, G.R.A., Zain, R.B., Abraham, M.T., Omar, E., Tan, S.K., Tan, A.C., Vincent-Chong, V.K., Thong, K.L., 2013.
 DNA methylation profiling revealed promoter hypermethylation-induced silencing of p16, DDAH2 and DUSP1 in primary oral squamous cell carcinoma. Int. J. Med. Sci. 10 (12), 1727–1739.
- Le, P.N., Keysar, S.B., Miller, B., Eagles, J.R., Chimed, T.-S., Reisinger, J., Gomez, K.E., Nieto, C., Jackson, B.C., Somerset, H. L., Morton, J.J., Wang, X.-J., Jimeno, A., 2019. Wnt signaling dynamics in head and neck squamous cell cancer tumor-stroma interactions. Mol. Carcinog. 58 (3), 398–410. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mc.v58.310.1002/mc.22937.
- Lee, S.H., Koo, B.S., Kim, J.M., Huang, S., Rho, Y.S., Bae, W.J., Kang, H.J., Kim, Y.S., Moon, J.H., Lim, Y.C., 2014. Wnt/β-catenin signalling maintains self-renewal and tumourigenicity of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma stem-like cells by activating Oct4. J. Pathol. 234 (1), 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4383.
- Li, L., Liu, H.-C., Wang, C., Liu, X., Hu, F.-C., Xie, N., Lü, L., Chen, X., Huang, H.-Z., 2016. Overexpression of β-catenin induces cisplatin resistance in oral squamous cell carcinoma. BioMed. Res. Int. 2016, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/5378567.
- Liu, B., Cao, G., Dong, Z., Guo, T., 2019. Effect of microRNA-27b on cisplatin chemotherapy sensitivity of oral squamous cell carcinoma

- via Fzd7 signaling pathway. Oncol. Lett. 18, 667–673. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2019.10347.
- Ma, C., Shi, L., Huang, Y.u., Shen, L., Peng, H., Zhu, X., Zhou, G., 2017. Nanoparticle delivery of Wnt-1 siRNA enhances photodynamic therapy by inhibiting epithelial-mesenchymal transition for oral cancer. Biomater. Sci. 5 (3), 494–501. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C6BM00833J.
- Mao, J., Fan, S., Ma, W., Fan, P., Wang, B., Zhang, J., Wang, H., Tang, B., Zhang, Q., Yu, X., Wang, L., Song, B., Li, L., 2014. Roles of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in the gastric cancer stem cells proliferation and salinomycin treatment. Cell Death Dis. 5, e1039. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.515.
- Marimuthu, M., Andiappan, M., Wahab, A., Muthusekhar, M., Balakrishnan, A., Shanmugam, S., 2018. Canonical Wnt pathway gene expression and their clinical correlation in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Indian J. Dent Res. 29, 291–297. https://doi.org/ 10.4103/ijdr.ijdr_375_17.
- Mihara, E., Hirai, H., Yamamoto, H., Tamura-Kawakami, K., Matano, M., Kikuchi, A., Sato, T., Takagi, J., 2016. Active and water-soluble form of lipidated Wnt protein is maintained by a serum glycoprotein afamin/α-albumin. Elife 5, e11621. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.11621.
- Mulligan, K.A., Fuerer, C., Ching, W., Fish, M., Willert, K., Nusse, R., 2011. Secreted Wingless-interacting molecule (Swim) promotes long-range signaling by maintaining Wingless solubility. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 109 (2), 370–377. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1119197109.
- Ogoshi, K., Kasamatsu, A., Iyoda, M., Sakuma, K., Yamatoji, M., Sakamoto, Y., Ogawara, K., Shiiba, M., Tanzawa, H., Uzawa, K., 2011. Dickkopf-1 in human oral cancer. Int. J. Oncol. 39, 329–336. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2011.1046.
- Pannone, G., Bufo, P., Santoro, A., Franco, R., Aquino, G., Longo, F., Botti, G., Serpico, R., Cafarelli, B., Abbruzzese, A., Caraglia, M., Papagerakis, S., Lo Muzio, L., 2010. Wnt pathway in oral cancer: epigenetic inactivation of Wnt-inhibitors. Oncol. Rep. 24, 1035–1041. https://doi.org/10.3892/or-00000952.
- Pérez-Sayáns, M., Suárez-Peñaranda, J.M., Herranz-Carnero, M., Gayoso-Diz, P., Barros-Angueira, F., Gándara-Rey, J.M., García-García, A., 2012. The role of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol. 48 (1), 56–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2011.09.001.
- Port, F., Hausmann, G., Basler, K., 2011. A genome-wide RNA interference screen uncovers two p24 proteins as regulators of Wingless secretion. EMBO Rep. 12 (11), 1144–1152. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2011.165.
- Prgomet, Z., Andersson, T., Lindberg, P., 2017. Higher expression of Wnt5a protein in oral squamous cell carcinoma compared with dysplasia and oral mucosa with a normal appearance. Eur. J. Oral Sci. 125 (4), 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/eos.2017.125.issue-410.1111/eos.12352.
- Prgomet, Z., Lindberg, P., Andersson, T., 2015. Migration and invasion of oral squamous carcinoma cells is promoted by Wnt5a, a regulator of cancer progression. J. Oral Pathol. Med. 44, 776–784. https://doi.org/10.1111/jop.12292.
- Shiah, S.-G., Shieh, Y.-S., Chang, J.-Y., 2016. The role of Wnt signaling in squamous cell carcinoma. J. Dent. Res. 95 (2), 129–134. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034515613507.
- Singh, B.N., Shankar, S., Srivastava, R.K., 2011. Green tea catechin, epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG): mechanisms, perspectives and clinical applications. Biochem. Pharmacol. 82 (12), 1807–1821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2011.07.093.
- Sogutlu, F., Kayabasi, C., Ozmen Yelken, B., Asik, A., Gasimli, R., Dogan, F., Yilmaz Süslüer, S., Biray Avcı, C., Gunduz, C., 2018. The effect of ICRT-3 on Wnt signaling pathway in head and neck cancer. J. Cell Biochem. 120 (1), 380–395. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.v120.110.1002/jcb.v27393.

- D'Souza, W., Saranath, D., 2015. Clinical implications of epigenetic regulation in oral cancer. J. Oral Oncol. 51 (12), 1061–1068. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2015.09.006.
- Stanczak, A., Stec, R., Bodnar, L., Olszewski, W., Cichowicz, M., Kozlowski, W., Szczylik, C., Pietrucha, T., Wieczorek, M., Lamparska-Przybysz, M., 2011. Prognostic significance of Wnt-1, β-catenin and E-cadherin expression in advanced colorectal carcinoma. Pathol. Oncol. Res. 17 (4), 955–963. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12253-011-9409-4.
- Wang, J., Lu, R., Fu, X., Dan, Z., Zhang, Y.-G., Chang, X., Liu, Q., Xia, Y., Liu, X., Sun, J., 2018. Novel regulatory roles of Wnt1 in infection-associated colorectal cancer. Neoplasia 20 (5), 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neo.2018.03.001.
- Wiese, K.E., Nusse, R., van Amerongen, R., 2018. Wnt signalling: conquering complexity. Development 26, 12. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dev.165902.
- Xu, M.X., Zhao, L., Deng, C., Yang, L.U., Wang, Y., Guo, T., Li, L., Lin, J., Zhang, L., 2013. Curcumin suppresses proliferation and induces apoptosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells via the Wnt signaling pathway. Int. J. Oncol. 43, 1951–1959. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2013.2107.

- Yan, D., Avtanski, D., Saxena, N.K., Sharma, D., 2012. Leptin-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer cells requires β-catenin activation via Akt/GSK3- and MTA1/Wnt1 protein-dependent pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 287 (11), 8598–8612. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.322800.
- Yang, C., Du, W., Yang, D., 2016. Inhibition of green tea polyphenol EGCG((-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate) on the proliferation of gastric cancer cells by suppressing canonical Wnt/β-catenin signalling pathway. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 67 (7), 818–827. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09637486.2016.1198892.
- Zhan, T., Rindtorff, N., Boutros, M., 2017. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene 36 (11), 1461–1473. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.304.
- Zhu, J., Jiang, Y., Yang, X., Wang, S., Xie, C., Li, X., Li, Y., Chen, Y., Wang, X., Meng, Y., Zhu, M., Wu, R., Huang, C., Ma, X., Geng, S., Wu, J., Zhong, C., Zhu, M., Wu, R., Huang, C., Ma, X., Geng, S., Wu, J., Zhong, C., 2017. Wnt/β-catenin pathway mediates (–)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) inhibition of lung cancer stem cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. Commun. 482, 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.11.038.